# CONFERENCE REPORT

Nairobi Symposium:

# Maximizing Impact of Women, Peace, and Security Policies in Africa

July 22 - 25, 2014 Nairobi, Kenya



Inclusive Security is grateful to all of the participants at the Nairobi Symposium for bringing your expertise and knowledge of national strategies to realize the objectives of UN Security Council Resolution 1325. Thank you to the Symposium co-hosts, partners, and volunteers for your commitment of time and resources to increase the impact of women, peace, and security policies in Africa.

#### THE NAIROBI SYMPOSIUM WAS PRESENTED BY







# Table of Contents

I.	Background and Context
II.	Maximizing Impact of Women, Peace, and Security Policies in Africa 5
III.	Designing NAPs and Gender Strategies
	i. Bringing Everyone to the Table
	ii. Planning for Results
	iii. Cultivating Government Support
	iv. Identifying Resources
IV.	Implementing NAPs and Gender Strategies
	i. Maintaining Inclusivity
	ii. Operationalizing the M&E Plan
	iii. Sustaining Political Support
	iv. Securing Funding
V.	Alternative Strategy Structures
	i. Regional Action Plans
	ii. Local Action Plans
VI.	Conclusion
VII.	Appendix
	i. Nairobi Symposium Participants

# I. BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT

Ambassador Swanee Hunt established the Institute for Inclusive Security in 1999 to change the way decisions are made about war and peace. She created a new kind of organization – one that takes a transformative approach to preventing violence, stopping war, and restoring communities after deadly conflicts. Inclusive Security works with governments and civil society to produce measurable results demonstrating the reality that women are a powerful force for peace.

On October 31, 2000, the UN Security Council adopted Resolution 1325, the first Security Council resolution that required parties in conflict to support women's participation in peace negotiations and post-conflict reconstruction. In 2004, the Security Council urged member states to implement Resolution 1325 by developing national strategies, called national action plans, to realize its goals. To-date less than a third of UN member states have adopted NAPs and very few of these have been fully implemented.

The gap between the promise of Resolution 1325 and the reality of its implementation led Inclusive Security to examine key components that might increase impact. In 2013, Inclusive Security consulted with government and civil society actors to identify obstacles that prevent countries from developing and implementing high-impact NAPs<sup>1</sup>. Of all the gaps that emerged – the most prominent was the lack of evidence to demonstrate results of implementation.

Limited public resources require policymakers to show the results of their initiatives. Through research and consultations, Inclusive Security discovered that most national strategies lack an effective monitoring and evaluation (M&E) system that can be used to collect data consistently. This data is needed to build a body of evidence that showcases the impact of NAPs and that can be used to galvanize momentum for Resolution 1325 around the globe.

"The inclusive approach encourages change of mentality...each stakeholder seizes the opportunity to integrate [the NAP] into their daily actions."

# II. MAXIMIZING IMPACT OF WOMEN, PEACE, AND SECURITY POLICIES IN AFRICA

To address the gap in M&E, Inclusive Security joined with partners Cordaid and the University of Nairobi to explore the work underway on the African continent in the field of women, peace, and security and generate recommendations for increasing its impact.

With 12 African countries implementing NAPs and more plans being developed, the continent has a substantial body of experience. African countries, for example, led the way in post-conflict NAP development and implementation. Over three days in Kenya, the Nairobi Symposium brought together policymakers and implementers to discuss the value of effective M&E plans and to build participants' capacity to construct and implement them. The gathering also strengthened and expanded the African NAP community.

The Symposium was a platform for participants to showcase lessons learned and best practices for strategy design and implementation, as well as to navigate shared challenges. The three-day convening involved a series of plenary and small-group workshop sessions. More than 120 Symposium delegates represented 15 countries across Sub-Saharan Africa, including those currently and considering designing or implementing NAPs:

Burundi	Guinea	Rwanda
Cote D'Ivoire	Guinea-Bissau	Sierra Leone
Democratic	Kenya	South Africa
Republic of Congo	Liberia	Sudan
Ethiopia	Nigeria	Uganda
Ghana	<u>C</u>	

Country delegations were comprised of government and civil society representatives. Nearly 30 percent of the delegates were men and all brought technical expertise in policy design or implementation – some at a normative level and some more specific to gender equality. The following sections outline themes that emerged across country NAP experiences. They also highlight best practices and innovative approaches that were discussed at the Symposium.

# III. Designing NAPs and Gender Strategies

#### **Bringing Everyone to the Table**

Participants at the Nairobi Symposium emphasized the need for NAP design processes to include consultation with civil society and other relevant actors. Inclusivity at this stage promotes commitment to the strategy's success and implementer ownership in subsequent phases.

In Nairobi, participants found that an inclusive design process often yields a final strategy that is accessible and relevant to a broad spectrum of actors. They stated that an inclusive strategy design helps to ensure that both government and civil society perspectives are reflected.

They emphasized that early buy-in from implementing actors strengthens broad commitment to the strategy. Symposium participants explained that it's difficult to maintain buy-in from male supporters if they feel threatened by NAP priorities. A presenter from Liberia addressed this concern by noting the need to "demystify the gender agenda." Men involved in the design process have the opportunity to see that UNSCR 1325 aims to benefit society as a whole and that empowerment of both genders need not be to the detriment of one or the other. It also gives men the opportunity to influence NAP objectives and language so that they are invested in strategy success.

Inclusive design processes also come with challenges. One participant expressed concern about how to facilitate consultative design in an efficient and timely manner. Representatives from Sudan are eager to move forward developing their plan, but are concerned about balancing the diverse needs of women across the country without getting overwhelmed by the challenges. Several noted that mechanisms for providing input must be clearly structured and follow agreed-upon deadlines. See the "Best Practice" for Sierra Leone's approach to efficient inclusive NAP design.



Delegates from Burundi review their National Action Plan. Workshop sessions emphasized the importance that government and civil society representatives be well-versed on the content of their strategies.

# Emerging Practice: Sierra Leone

#### Challenge

Cultivate NAP support from key actors throughout design and implementation.

### **Approach**

The Ministry of Social Welfare, Gender, and Children's Affairs houses the Sierra Leone National Action Plan for the Full Implementation of UN Security Council Resolution 1325. The year-long NAP design process began by establishing a Government-Civil Society Task Force titled WANMAR 1325 Task Force. It was chaired by MSWGCA and comprised 35 government, civil society, and local organizations. The Task Force met monthly throughout the design process, enabling representatives to consistently shape and influence the final document.

After the SiLNAP was launched in 2009, the WANMAR 1325 Task Force was transformed into steering committees to guide the implementation process. According to David Lahai, Executive Director, Organization for Inclusive Development, the diverse actors are committed to the plan's implementation. There is strong buy-in from local level governments to translate the SiLNAP's five pillars to their own context. Seven of the 19 subnational local councils are implementing SiLNAP activities.

### i. Planning For Results

The Nairobi Symposium highlighted the importance of monitoring and evaluation and why they are central to high-impact NAPs. Participants reflected on their experience measuring implementation and assessing the impact of policies for women, peace, and security. Some brought success stories while others were eager to hear best practices from fellow participants.

A representative from the Democratic Republic of Congo highlighted the role that civil society plays in tracking NAP implementation. Monitoring reports published by civil society contain data that is used in advocacy to the DRC government about the importance of women, peace, and security.

An M&E expert from South Africa noted the important distinction between monitoring – asking whether we are doing what was planned and what progress we're making – and evaluation – a deeper analysis of "issues such as causality, relevance, effectiveness, efficiency, value for money and sustainability." She stressed that M&E provides important feedback to implementers and their partners, strengthening evidence-based decision making, improving policy or program performance, and generating knowledge for learning.

Countries that are best able to measure and demonstrate results are those that prioritize M&E early on in their strategy design. In Rwanda, the Plan design process began with a baseline study to determine existing gaps and potential areas for success to empower women in the wake of their civil war.<sup>2</sup> Using baseline information, policymakers can determine their policy goals, which in turn help implementers identify appropriate policy priorities and pillars. However, not all government agencies have the capacity to track and measure changes produced by their policies. One speaker from Cote d'Ivoire stated that a results-based management approach was the "driving force" behind his country's NAP. It "emphasizes achieving measurable results, which supports effective monitoring and evaluation."

The first step toward demonstrating NAP progress and impact is to articulate what the strategy aims to achieve—what will success look like? A focus on results and long-term and mid-term outcomes allows implementers to align activities and clarify strategies in a logical way.

# "Knowing why our policies, programs, or projects succeed or fail is as important as knowing what they do."

At the Nairobi Symposium, Inclusive Security presented its NAP framework, which is one of multiple tools presented in their NAP M&E guide, "What Matters Most: Measuring Plans for Inclusive Security." We built the framework in consultation with a range of partners to help decision makers define the results they are hoping for at the end of NAP implementation. It is a flexible tool that proposes three broad categories of long-term results (outcomes) that countries can consider when designing or revising their NAP structure. It then deconstructs the three outcomes to mid-term results, mapping out what needs to be achieved mid-way through implementation to reach the desired outcomes. Participants at the Nairobi Symposium worked with the framework in interactive sessions, beginning to map out the target results of their country's plans.

In addition to creating a results-focused structure, the NAP design process should include measures of success. A speaker at the Symposium from Sierra Leone emphasized that indicators<sup>3</sup> must be contextualized and aligned with other national policies to assure greater ownership. He pointed out that the Sierra Leone NAP originally had 59 indicators, which they streamlined to 35. Lowering the number of indicators made it possible to collect more meaningful data.

<sup>2</sup> Republic of Rwanda National Action Plan 2009-2012 the United Nations Security Council Resolution 1325/2000 on Women, Peace, and Security p.8

<sup>3</sup> Indicator: Quantitative or qualitative factor or variable that provides a simple and reliable means to measure achievement, to reflect the changes connected to an intervention, or to help assess the performance of a development actor.

# "The essential force behind our NAP: results-based management"

There was a wide array of indicators across the 15 countries represented in Nairobi. In Uganda, for instance, civil society is collecting data on 15 of more than 50 NAP indicators. Participants reflected that NAPs in Sierra Leone and Ghana use indicators that measure mid-term and long-term results instead of focusing on activities and immediate outputs (such as the number of participants or the number of capacity building events delivered). This enables implementers to report on progress toward the long-term results of the NAP. Baseline data for each indicator must also be collected at the beginning of NAP design or revision to provide a basis for comparison in the future. Well-designed indicators with associated baseline information are critical to accurately monitor and evaluate progress.

Inclusive Security also presented a list of indicators that we created to accompany the NAP Framework. The list includes quantitative and qualitative measures, recognizing that while qualitative indicators are less objective and sometimes require additional resources for data collection, they can yield more nuanced data.

The majority of NAPs represented at the Symposium include M&E plans with assigned responsibilities to implementing ministries. Some countries, like Senegal and Sierra Leone, have baseline and target values as well. To effectively implement M&E plans, countries created mechanisms such as an M&E Committee through the Ministry of Gender in the DRC or the future Monitoring Committee in Nigeria that will have representatives from the government, military, civil society, and other partner organizations. Such committees and plans are essential to ensure that data collection, analysis, and reporting take place on a continuous basis during the implementation of the NAP.



Government and civil society representatives discuss political commitment to gender strategies. Support during design and implementation from government officials is critical to success.

# "Twenty percent of performance contract indicators for government ministries in our country are gender-related."

#### ii. Cultivating Government Support

Successful NAPs must be supported by government representatives and governance systems. In Nairobi there was wide consensus that women, peace, and security should be viewed as addressing national rather than gender issues. The majority of countries participating in Nairobi house their NAPs in ministries of gender or women's affairs. As a result, their political momentum often centers on women's rights. Participants expressed their support for NAPs to be framed as national security strategies, thus making the plans relevant to a larger group of political actors.

Designers of the Kenyan National Action Plan for Implementation of UN Security Council Resolutions 1325 and 1820 desired wide political support for the strategy. The design process was initiated by a government delegation that visited Helsinki in 2009 to consult with Finnish officials about their experience. Before committing to the design and launch of the K-NAP, high-level consultations were conducted with security sector ministries. After the K-NAP was drafted, it was presented to the National Security Advisory Committee for approval. Throughout the design process there was emphasis on building political will for its success. Designers requested that implementation be led by the Ministry of Interior or the Ministry of Devolution (Planning). Many participants at the Nairobi Symposium felt that political will and momentum for NAPs would increase if implementation was spearheaded by a ministry outside of gender or women's affairs.

#### iii. Identifiying Resources

Conducting an inclusive design process, generating political will, and setting up systems to effectively monitor, evaluate, and communicate results are each key to a high-impact NAP. However, even with all of these elements in place, without designated funds for implementation the ability to deliver results is significantly hindered. The UN Security Council acknowledged this gap in Resolution 2122 (October 2013), urging member states to develop dedicated funding mechanisms for NAPs and to increase direct contributions to local civil society organizations.

At the Nairobi Symposium, presenters in a session on Multi-Stakeholder Financing Mechanisms presented ways to overcome this gap. Cordaid and the Global Network of Women Peacebuilders (GNWP) conducted research in 2010-2011, which indicated that most countries lack earmarked funding or a budget to support implementation of the NAP. Instead activities were often "mainstreamed" into existing structures, activities, and budgets. When funding isn't earmarked, it becomes difficult to track activity implementation and the lack of transparency can inhibit meaningful collaboration among civil society, government, and multilateral institutions.

Financing of NAPs, therefore, is not merely about fundraising – it's about accountability, transparency, and local ownership. It's also about strengthening capacity of local civil society organizations and improving their ability to access resources.

Many participants in Nairobi commented on their difficulties accessing funds. Donor requirements are often so rigorous that they effectively bar access for grassroots organizations. As one participant said, "our English may not be as good – but the work we do on the ground is better than what we write in our proposals.... we cannot cope with the conditions you give these are conditions for women that live in cities, have offices, and have accountants...come and see the work we do on the ground."



Participants share their responsibilities in relation to the monitoring and evaluation cycle. Whether a policymaker, shaper, or influencer, everyone has a role to ensure its objectives are met.

# Emerging Practice: Burundi

### Challenge

Facilitate consistent communication among key actors during NAP implementation.

#### **Approach**

In Burundi they have established annual "Open Days" to facilitate coordination among implementers of the National Action Plan (NAP) on the Implementation of UNSCR 1325.

Each year, civil society, relevant partners, and government representatives work together to gather security priorities and concerns directly from women in communities. The information that they gather is submitted to government and United Nations representatives for consideration.

Civil society and key partners take the recommendations and develop a budget and action plan for their implementation. A monitoring committee is also established and meets regularly to track the progress that is made on Open Days priorities.

# IV. IMPLEMENTING NAPS AND GENDER STRATEGIES

## i. Maintaining Inclusivity

Inclusive NAP design results in a strategy that is more relevant and meaningful for key actors. When the design phase is sufficiently inclusive, it facilitates ownership during implementation.

Effective coordination between government and civil society is critical during implementation. It helps ensure that actions articulated during the design process are underway and unfold as anticipated. Civil society's direct interaction with NAP beneficiaries during implementation is a source of information for policymakers and coordinating actors. Likewise, government representatives oversee resource allocation for NAP implementation and are acutely aware of political contexts that might impact the strategy. Both parties are critical during implementation and clear communication of priorities should be facilitated throughout.

One result of an inclusive design process is more efficient implementation. The reason for this is two-fold. First, when relevant actors are involved in the planning process it helps to ensure that everyone's work is coordinated. There is less opportunity for overlap in interventions. Second, collaboration builds partnerships among NAP implementers. It strengthens the community of actors working on implementation and creates a sense of accountability among them. It facilitates dialogue between local, regional, and national actors so that the needs of men and women who are impacted by NAP implementation are consistently reflected.

"We always begin each monitoring cycle with a reflection meeting. In this meeting we review what we have done as a coalition since the previous monitoring report was published, we request the Ministry of Gender to update us on activities that government has implemented during the same period, we discuss strategies that have worked in effectively disseminating the report, then we discuss the monitoring tool, which we review each year to accommodate progress that may have been made and new issues that have emerged"

Civil society representative, Uganda

#### ii. Operationalizing the M&E Plan

Throughout the Symposium, participants shared their expertise about how to make monitoring and evaluation systems work. Presenters in one of the final plenary sessions discussed elements that are required to sustain monitoring and evaluation during NAP implementation. One noted that M&E is built into the Nigerian NAP and that the Ministry of Women's Affairs has a lead role in making sure that it is well implemented. However, she noted that this is hindered by the lack of skilled personnel to collect basic data and to drive other M&E processes, a sentiment echoed by several other country representatives from the DRC and Côte d'Ivoire. Drafters of the Guinea-Bissau plan established a steering committee responsible for tracking implementation.<sup>4</sup> The members of the committee ranged from government representatives, including parliament and the Ministry of National Defence, to civil society. This was a critical step toward putting the strategy in motion.

In Uganda, the Ministry of Gender and the Office of the Prime Minister monitor the implementation of their NAP. Ugandan civil society is also at the forefront of monitoring for results. They annually collect and disseminate monitoring data on NAP implementation. They provide annual trainings for their researchers, review their data collection tools every year, and implement a data validation process enabling them to report on and present rigorous findings to the public as well as to Ugandan government agencies. One presenter representing civil society in Uganda emphasized the importance of coordinating data collection with relevant government and international organizations.

"In many of our countries in Africa, it is one thing having a policy in place, and another implementing it to achieve intended results. It is therefore important for CSOs to monitor the implementation of the NAP, to measure progress on each indicator, to document success, to identify gaps and challenges that need to be addressed, and to capture lessons learnt and good practices that can be shared and replicated."

Participants from the DRC mentioned that their NAP was revised in 2013, taking into consideration the findings of their 2010-2013 evaluation. This highlights the importance of conducting mid-term and final assessments or reviews as they can provide crucial information on improving women, peace, and security policies and support evidence-based decision making. Evaluation is also a resource – and human capacity-intensive undertaking that can be outsourced to external,



Experts from Cordaid, the Burundi Ministry of Gender, and Burundi NGO NAP Steering Committee present about inclusive design and implementation. Coordination between government, civil society, and other relevant actors is a key component of a high-impact strategy.

independent experts or conducted internally. Some countries, such as Ghana, Kenya, and South Africa decided to create a specific department or office dedicated to monitoring and evaluation. In South Africa (which has not yet released a NAP), creating the Department of Policy Monitoring and Evaluation within the President's office resulted in a common language and conceptual base across government agencies and clarified roles and responsibilities for policy M&E.

Applying evaluations and monitoring reports is crucial for supporting policies. Government agencies can use the available information to raise awareness about Resolution 1325 and the situation of women in the country or the community. They can also benefit from the findings by using them to inform their strategies and improve the decision-making processes. On the other hand, civil society organizations can use the data for advocacy purposes. As one Ugandan participant put it, the monitoring reports "enable us to point out gaps, bottlenecks, and challenges in implementation and enables us to demand explanation and action to address the gaps." All actors involved in NAP implementation can use evaluation reports and data to make the case for women's involvement in peace and security and to provide evidence to citizens, funders, and partners on the progress made.

#### iii. Sustaining Political Will

Political will is a key component to getting NAPs designed, approved, and underway—but this is only the beginning of the process. Political will must be maintained for effective NAP implementation as well. At a plenary session about generating and sustaining political will, Nairobi Symposium participants discussed their challenges maintaining long-term political support for NAPs.

In Liberia, the NAP received high-level government attention during its design phase. When the final document was approved, there was an information gap among implementing ministries who received their assigned responsibilities but did not know the context of the NAP or its importance. The strategy was de-prioritized by many due in part to government officials' lack of awareness about its objectives. A Liberian speaker in Nairobi noted that during the post-conflict transition process, there were many competing policies that ultimately took precedent. There was a similar decrease in government support when it came to localizing the LNAP. A high level of political investment diminished over time as momentum was lost. The civil society speaker emphasized the need to inform all three branches of government about their roles and specific responsibilities for implementation and to ensure that civil society also takes ownership in implementation.

One way to address the challenge of insufficient political will during implementation is by introducing incentive structures. Despite obstacles to formally launch the K-NAP, Kenyan county governments are committed to inclusion of women in their peace committees. Each committee has 15 members—291 total across the country—and one-third of them are women. They are charged with collecting information from the community to monitor stability and maintain open communication. To reinforce the importance of these structures and the role of women, there is a Peace Award that is given to recognize women's contribution to peace at the local level.

#### iv. Securing Funding

For many countries, resourcing the implementation of their own NAP is challenging – public resources are scarce and women's inclusion is not normally a top budget priority. For example, designers of the Sierra Leone NAP developed an extensive budget totaling \$21 million, yet they have received less than \$1 million in actual resources. This is but one illustration of the extent of this large gap. But reliance on external financing can be problematic, as well. Often such external financiers attach conditions that undermine local ownership – and when external resources dry up, it can become an excuse for governments to halt implementation.

Cordaid and GNWP advocate for establishing a multi-stakeholder financing mechanism as an alternate means for resourcing strategy implementation. Such a mechanism would not only address funding gaps, but also serve as a means for enhancing the institutional capacity of implementers. It would help reduce the amount of overlap and competition among implementers (particularly civil society actors) in accessing funds.

Along with Womankind UK, UN Women, UN Peacebuilding Support Office, the Netherlands, Norway, Finland, Switzerland, Nepal, Sierra Leone, and South Sudan, Cordaid and GNWP formed a NAP Financing Discussion Group to identify and overcome barriers to adequate financing and advocate for the development of a global women, peace, and security acceleration fund (including a dedicated NAP financing mechanism). In developing such a mechanism, the objectives of the group are to:

- 1. Encourage transparency, coherence, coordination, collaboration, and accountability mechanisms around funding;
- 2. Improve civil society's, especially local women's groups, ability to access and administer funds (civil society is effectively barred from directly accessing most major multi-donor trust funds and fund administration is almost exclusively carried out by UN entities);
- 3. Engage non-traditional donors including the private sector; and
- 4. Promote country led administered trust funds.

The group will also provide space in which to share and solicit information on good practices and lessons learned in a meaningful way, and serve as a mechanism for encouraging other countries to develop and resource NAPs.



Kenyan civil society representatives and a Ghanaian government official examine the monitoring and evaluation components of their national strategies. A high-impact strategy should include a plan to track and report on its progress.

## V. ALTERNATIVE STRATEGY STRUCTURES

#### i. Regional Action Plans

In addition to national plans, one session at the Symposium highlighted Regional Action Plans. RAPs have been explored on the continent as an alternative mechanism for realizing the objectives of UNSCR 1325 for several reasons.

First, regional neighbors across Africa often face similar, sometimes related, histories of conflict as well as a number of cross-cutting issues restricting women's meaningful inclusion in peace and security processes. These include, but are not limited to, a lack of basic services, restricted educational and economic opportunities, and gender-based violence.

Second, many countries already belong to a number of regional communities, such as the International Conference on the Great Lakes Region and the Economic Community of West African States, which aims to bolster political stability and economic security among members states. Finally, the African Union provides a continental platform for advancing issues of peace and security.

There are several challenges to the regional approach, which were discussed during a plenary session about coordination. For example, cultural and linguistic diversity within the Great Lakes region has made it difficult to draft a plan that is inclusive of women's needs and priorities in all relevant countries. Additionally, regional organizations often lack the necessary financial resources to effectively develop, implement, and monitor such plans. One representative from Ethiopia noted that the AU's Directorate of Gender currently has the smallest budget of any of the organization's units, despite its broad scope of work.

#### ii. Local Action Plans

Local Action Plans have been used as a means to ensure NAP impact at the community level. Local strategies can be tailored to ensure that priorities and objectives directly address pressing community needs. This increases the prospects for impact and makes national policies relevant at the local level. Examples discussed at the Nairobi Symposium demonstrated that civil society is often heavily involved in a local plan's design, implementation, and evaluation. These organizations are in-touch with community needs and can create innovative ways to make the NAP relevant on a local level. For instance, in Guinea activists connected their strategy to traditional proverbs. This creative approach took the message that women's inclusion is vital to security and made it accessible to a broader group. Civil society's meaningful involvement in plan localization can lead to greater relevance to and support from the community.

However, successfully implementing local plans is often difficult. In Kenya, for example, local action plans differ widely from the country's draft NAP. Such a large disconnect makes it difficult to ensure government-civil society coordination, access to government funds for implementation, and meaningful monitoring and evaluation.

## VI. CONCLUSION

Technical experts of national gender strategy design and implementation across Sub-Saharan Africa brought a wealth of knowledge to the Nairobi Symposium. The in-depth discussions and workshops were an opportunity for participants to see that many of their challenges are shared. From efficient inclusive design structures to data collection and dissemination, candid conversations led to valuable information sharing.

The Nairobi Symposium was a platform to strengthen the African and international NAP community and to build relationships that can be leveraged to advance women's influence on peace and security issues. Through expanded networks and strengthened capacity, Symposium participants are more equipped to increase the impact of their work toward realizing the promise of Resolution 1325.

# VII. APPENDIX

#### NAIROBI SYMPOSIUM PARTICIPANTS

#### **BURUNDI**

Floride Ahitungiye

Search for Common Ground

Triphonie Habonimana

Country Advisory, Women's Leadership for Peace and Security, Cordaid

Major Flora Kwizera

Ministry of Defense and Former Combatants

Catherine Mabobori

CSO Steering Commmittee on UNSCR 1325

Colonel Louis Pasteur Musongera

Ministry of Defense and Former Combatants

Goretti Ndacayisaba

Secretary, Burundi NGO NAP Steering Committee

Christian Ngendahimana

Executive Director, Fontaine-ISOKO de la Bonne Gouvernance pour un Développement Intégré

Fabien Nsengimana

Executive Director, Burundi Leadership Training Program

Scholastique Ntirampeba

Representative, Directorate for the Promotion of Women and Gender Equality, UN Women

Godelieve Nininahazwe

Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Gender

Emmauel Ndayiziga

Secretary, National Police

#### **CANADA**

Jacqueline O'Neill

Director, Inclusive Security

#### **CÔTE D'IVOIRE**

Attoumbre N'Guessan

Reseau des Femmes pour les Droits Humains

Salimata Porquet Nee Sanogho

Regional President, The Peace and Security Network Women of the ECOWAS Space (Réseau Paix et Sécurité des Femmes dans l'Espace CEDEAO)

Alexis Tchiakpe

Administrator, Chair UNESCO- EFPOD

#### DRC

Flavienne Cimanuka

Head, NAP 1325 Project, Search for Common Ground

Irene Esambo

Coordinator, Center of Studies on Justice and the Resolution of 1325

Victor Loleko

Director, Ministry of Gender

Eve Bazaiba Masudi

Parliamentarian

Elodie Musafiri

Vice Chairman of the Board, Funds for Congolese Women (FCC)

#### **ETHIOPIA**

Bethel Genene

Country Coordinator housed with the Inter-Africa Group IGAD CEWARN

Meron Genene

Consultant on Gender Peace and Security, African Union

Antonia N'Gabala-Sodonon

Program Coordinator, Peace and Security Department, African Union

Stella Sabiiti

Community of Experts Member, Inclusive Security

Sebene Negussie

Program Assistant, CEWARN/IGAD

#### **FINLAND**

Riikka Raatikainen

Counsellor, Nairobi, Kenya Embassy of Finland

#### **GHANA**

Baffour Amoa

President, West African Action Network on Small Arms

Suallah Abdallah Quandah

Brong Ahafo Regional Executive Secretary, National Peace Council

#### **GUINEA**

#### Michele Sona Koundouno

Executive Director, Centre FECPA

#### Binta Nabe

Activist Combatting Violence Against Women

#### Kone Nantenin

MARWOPNET

#### Michel Sona Koundouno

Center for Women, Citizenship and Peace

#### **GUINEA-BISSAU**

#### Julio Colonia

General Director of Women and Social Cohesion, Ministry of Women, Family, and Social Cohesion

•••••

#### Judith Mirembe

Gender Affairs Officer, Gender Advisory Unit, UN Integrated Office of Peacebuilding Guinea-Bissau

#### Elisa Maria Tavares Pinto

Deputy, ECOWAS Women's Network on Women, Peace and Security

#### Helena Assana Said

Vice President, Women's Political Platform

#### Caterina Eleonarda Gomes Viegas

Gender Advisory Unit, UN Integrated Office of Peacebuilding Guinea- Bissau

#### **HUNGARY**

#### Zsuzsanna Lippai

Monitoring and Evaluation Manager, Inclusive Security

•••••

#### **JORDAN**

#### Nadia Al-Alawai

Community of Experts Member, Inclusive Security

#### **KENYA**

#### Idil Absive

Program Specialist, Peace and Security, UN Women Kenya

#### Fatuma Adan Marsabit

Executive Director, Kenya Horn of Africa Development Initiative (HODI)

#### Professor Judith Bahemuka

Department of Sociology and Social Work, University of Nairobi

#### Florence Butegwa

ESARO Advisor on Policy and Governance, UN Women

#### Omondi Bowa

Chairman, Department of Educational Studies, University of Nairobi

#### Milka Chepkirui

Administrator, Kenya National Steering Committee on Peacebuilding and Conflict Management

#### Professor Lucy Irungu

Deputy Vice Chancellor, Research, Production and Extension, University of Nairobi

#### Professor Isaac Jumba

Principal of the College of Education and External Studies, University of Nairobi

#### Monicah Jumba

Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Defense

#### Amina Kassim

Director for Education, County government

#### Zebib Kavuma

Director, UN Women Kenya

#### Professor Harriet Kidombo

Dean of the School of Continuing and Distance Education, University of Nairobi

#### Winfred Lichuma

Chairperson, National Gender and Equality Commission

#### Rebecca Lolosooli

Women's Rights Activist

#### Tecla Loroupe

Former Marathon World Record Holder, Peacebuilder

#### Professor George Magoha

Vice Chancellor, University of Nairobi

#### Samuel K. Maina

National Coordinator, National Steering Committee on Peacebuilding and Conflict

#### Professor Joyce Mbwesa

Coordinator, Peace Education Department, University of Nairobi

#### Catherine Muoki

Gender Directorate, Ministry of Planning and Devolution

#### Betty Mugo

M&E/Gender Specialist, Democracy, Rights and Governance (DRG), USAID Kenya

#### Betty Murungi

Independent Consultant, Developed the KNAP, Inclusive Security Facilitator

#### Alice Nderitu

Community of Experts Member, Inclusive Security

#### Dr. Kyalo Dorothy Ndunge

Associate Dean, School of Continuing and Distance Education, University of Nairobi Catherine Njeru

Program Officer, National Gender and Equality Commission

Mutuku Nguli

Director, Diversity Concern

Priscilla Nangurai

Teacher, Maasai

Christine Ochieng

Executive Director, Federation of Kenyan Women Lawyers

Ambassador Raychelle Omamo

Cabinet Secretary for Defense, Ministry of Defense

Mary Simat

Environmental Peace and Women's Rights Activist

John Waimiri

Bid Manager and Communication Officer, Cordaid

**LIBERIA** 

Sieane Abdul Baki

Special Assistant, Ministry of Gender and Development

Ruth Caesar

National Focal Point, Mano River Women's Peace Network

Annette Kiawu

Deputy Minister, Ministry of Gender and Development

Samuel Kofi Woods, II

Lawyer and Activist, Liberia Law Society

Kutaka Devine Togbah

Assistant Director for Human Rights, Ministry of Justice

Marpue Speare

Executive Director, Women NGOs Secretariat of Liberia

Williette Pinky Wei Monger

Director, Ministry of National Defense

THE NETHERLANDS

Henri van Eeghen

Chief Operating Officer, Cordaid

Erica Zwaan

Women's Leadership for Peace and Security, Cordaid

**NIGERIA** 

Anthony Abu

Research and Communications Coordinator, Nigerian Women's Trust Fund

Olufunke Baruwa

Desk Officer for Gender, Office of the Senior Special Advisor to the President on MDGs

Ene Ede

Former Executive Director, Equity Advocates

Nkiru Igbelina-Igbokwe

National Programme Specialist, UN Population Fund

Florence Iheme

Program Manager, ECOWAS, Office of Political Affairs, Peacekeeping and Security Commission

Chinedu Nwagu

Program Manager, CLEEN Foundation

Bartholomew Ochonye

Program Officer, Heartland Alliance Nigeria, Health and Human Rights

Nkechi Florence Onwukwe

Deputy Director, Ministry of Womens Affairs

Joy Ada Onyesoh

President, WILPF-Nigeria

Ayisha Osori

CEO, Nigerian Women's Trust Fund

RWANDA

CIP. Shafiga Murebwayire

Coordinator, Isange One Stop Center in the National Police

Ingabire Marie Immaculée

National Chairperson of Regional Women Forum

Aquiline Niwemfura

Executive Secretary/Gender Monitoring Office and Head of Delegation

Sarah Ufitamahoro

Asst. Secretary General, CLADHO

**SIERRA LEONE** 

P. C. Foday Jalloh III

Paramount Chief, Nieni chiefdom

Ibrahim Kamara

Regional Desk Officer, Ministry of Social Welfare, Gender and Children's Affairs

David Edward Lahai

Executive Director, Organization for Inclusive Development

Mary Yuanita Okumu

UN Women representative

Dr. Nana Pratt

Lead Coordinator, GNWP Sierra Leone

Dr. Charles Vandi

Director, Gender Policy and Advocacy, Ministry of Social Welfare, Gender and Children's Affairs

#### **SOUTH AFRICA**

#### Matodzi Amisi

Director of Evaluation, Department of Performance M&E in the Presidency

#### Cheryl Hendricks

Community of Experts, Inclusive Security

#### Nomfundo Walaza

CEO, Desmond Tutu PeaceTrust

#### SUDAN

#### Sadea Alagab Farh

Gender Associate, UNDP DDR Program

#### Suaad Deshool

Director, National Center for Women, Peace, and Development

#### Hon. Botheyna Saad Rahama Jamil

Parliamentarian

#### Ahlam Nasier

Social Activist for Women, Peace, and Security

#### Salma Soliman

Gender Focal Point, UNDP DDR Program

#### Dr. Mahmoud Zainelabdeen (Abdalla)

Director of Planning, Sudan DDR Commission

#### **UGANDA**

#### Marren Akatsa-Bukachi

Executive Director, Eastern African Sub-Regional Support Initiative for the Advancement of Women (EASSI)

#### Cecilia Alupo Engole

Executive Director, Teso Women Peace Activists

#### Gladys Canogura Faddy

Executive Director, Kitgum Women's Peace Initiative (KIWEPI)

#### Claire Hawkins

Gender and Humanitarian Specialist, UN Women – Kampala, Uganda

#### Prossy Namale

Program Specialist, Northern Uganda Sub-Office, UN Women

#### Ruth Ojiambo Ochieng

Executive Director, ISIS Women's International Cross-Cultural Exchange

#### Robinah Rubimbwa

Executive Director, Center for Women in Governance (CEWIGO)

#### **UNITED STATES**

#### Wendy Anderson

Chief of Staff Designate to the Secretary of Commerce, US Department of Commerce

#### Iman Abdul-Musawwir.

Consultant, Hunt Alternatives

#### Mary Christine Byenkya

Community of Experts Member, Inclusive Security

#### Mavic Cabrera-Balleza

International Coordinator, Global Network for Women Peacebuilders

#### Michelle Barsa

Senior Manager for Policy, Inclusive Security Action

#### Li Bensley

Psychotherapist and Professor of Social Work, Boston College

#### Jean Demmler

Author and Researcher

#### Ariel Gleicher

Program Associate, Inclusive Security

#### Shereen Hall

Deputy Director of Communications, Inclusive Security

#### Ambassador Swanee Hunt

Founder and Chair, Hunt Alternatives

#### Maria Jobin-Leeds

Founder and Chairperson, Access Strategies Fund

#### Mariam Mansury

Community of Experts Manager, Inclusive Security

#### Ebele Okobi

Global Head & Senior Legal Director, Human Rights, Yahoo!

#### Jeffrey Paquette

Chief Operating Officer, Hunt Alternatives

#### Ambassador (ret.) Carol Rodley

Director of National Action Plans Team, Inclusive Security

#### James Smith

Communications Director, Hunt Alternatives

#### Nashila Somani

Manager of Brattle Administration, Hunt Alternatives

#### Gloria White-Hammond

Reverend and Executive Director, My Sister's Keeper

#### Angelic Young

Senior Coordinator of National Action Plan Team, Inclusive Security